IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT LUNDBERG,)	
)	
Petitioner,)	
)	
V.)	No. SC13-66
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Respondent.)	
)	

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District of Florida

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAROL STAFFORD HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
421 Third Street
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

GARY LEE CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 256919

Attorney for Petitioner

(561)355-7600; (561) 624-6560

appeals@pd15.state.fl.us gcaldwel@pd15.state.fl.us cgload@pd15.state.fl.us

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case involves the denial of post-conviction relief as to the defendant's convictions for attempted sexual battery of a minor (as a lesser offense of a charged sexual battery) and for lewd or lascivious assault. It is before this Court on conflict jurisdiction regarding the lower court's decision affirming the denial of the defendant's post-conviction motion.

A. The state's case at trial.

The trial was in 2003. It focused on two incidents said to have happened some years earlier in St. Lucie County. Before the trial, the court suppressed part of the defendant's police statement, finding it was coerced.

The alleged victim, V, said the first incident happened on

a night when her family was joined by the defendant, his girlfriend and their son as a hurricane approached. SSR2 209.

V was asleep on the couch and was awakened by the defendant tapping her private part. He touched her vagina under her clothes, with his hand inside her underwear. SSR2 212-15.

This incident was the basis for the lewd assault charge. SSR1 174 (state's opening); SSR4 631-32 (final argument).

The sexual battery charge arose from an incident when she and her brother spent the night with the defendant's family. SSR2 218-23.

She woke up "and something was hurting me and it was [the defendant]." He put his finger inside her under her clothes. He took his finger out and asked if she had trouble sleeping. She said no, and he went back to his room. Her stomach hurt when she went to use the bathroom. SSR2 225-29.

The next day, while in the car with her parents, she said the defendant had done something to her. Her father braked and freaked out, and she said the defendant hit her. SSR2 231-32.

A year later, she told her aunt, and then spoke with her parents, the police and the state attorney. SSR2 239-45.

The aunt testified that she had taken V with her to clean a restaurant. V told her the defendant "touched me in here" with his finger. SSR2 269-70.

V said that the first time he just put his hand on her lap

and her parents took care of it. SSR2 286.

As to the second incident, the aunt asked if he got it in, and V said she woke up and he was rubbing and it was irritating. When she went in the bathroom it was burning. She said he had his tip of his finger and it was rubbing. SSR2 287-92.

The aunt spoke with the defendant at the Ale House where they both worked. He said it was all bull. They argued and the aunt pushed and punched a manager who intervened. The aunt shouted that she had been going through harassment. The defendant had been promoted and she had not. She was fired for hitting the manager. SSR2 278-282.

V's father testified V said in the car that something happened with the defendant. SSR2 302-303. He pulled over and she said he touched her while they were playing video games, tapping her around the private parts. The defendant touches people he's talking to, he talks with his hands. SSR2 302-303.

In March 2002, the father was told by the aunt that he needed to talk to V, that V said the defendant had touched her. SSR2 306-307.

Without objection, the father testified on direct that: "I could see it in my daughter's eyes, I could see her telling me that, you know, you know, she's not lying, and it was scary." SSR2 312. "She swears - she said, I swear it was true. It's true." SSR2 314. They "wanted to be totally sure" and had a

counselor with expertise in offenders talk to V, and he told them "he had no reason not to believe" V. SSR2 314-15.

The mother testified without objection that: She told V it was "really important that I needed to make sure it was true," and V responded "mommy, I swear, it happened it happened - I swear." SSR2 336. They "kept reiterating to her that that was serious," and V "kept looking at me - she kept saying, mom, I swear, I'm not lying. It's true, he did it." V "insisted that what she was saying was true." SSR2 338.

The mother said V told her the defendant used his finger to touch her private. SSR2 362.

A detective testified about her investigation of the case. She said without objection that: She stressed to V the "extreme importance of telling the truth," and watched "for her responses as to how she react[ed] to me and her body language and look[ed] for things that if [she was] being deceptive, and V reacted "Perfectly." SSR2 374. Children have blown things out of proportion in "five max" out of hundreds of cases but such cases were "very obvious from the get go." SSR2 491-92. V "was unconfused. I was the one that got confused. She kept me organized." SSR2 493.

The defendant interrogated the defendant. There was an audio recorder visible in the room, but the interrogation was also secretly recorded on video. The non-suppressed part of the in-

terrogation was played to the jury.

In the recording, the defendant made an exculpatory statement about the incident at his house. He said V fell asleep downstairs and he carried her upstairs. When he entered the bedroom, he tripped over his son, who was lying on the floor. The defendant and V, who was still in his arms, fell on the bed. V woke up, looked at him, and said ouch. SSR3 431-32.

Immediately after the interrogation and while still in the interview room, the defendant spoke with his girlfriend. This discussion was also secretly recorded and played to the jury.

The defendant told his girlfriend that V "said that I touched her. I could have. I have to pay the price of what I did." He also said, "I kind of - I kind of remember touching" V. He was very remorseful. SSR3 454-55.

The defendant testified that on the night the hurricane was approaching he went to bed early because he was tired from the night before. He did not touch V that night. SSR3 517-520.

On the night of the other alleged incident, V was asleep on the couch and he carried her upstairs. His son and V's brother were sleeping on the floor. While stepping around them, he lost his balance, and dropped V on the bed. SSR3 526-30.

He explained:

In the middle of the fall, I lost - I lost grip with [V]. I was going forward with her, she was starting to fall out of my arms, I had to kind of punch her to-

gether with both my arms, uh, it was in the groin area where I had caught her, uh, tossed her on the bed. In no means was it meant in any sexual way. I caught her, like I said, in the midsection. If I did touch her, there was no sexual ill intent meant about it. My hands never went down her pants and my finger never went inside of this girls' vagina.

SSR3 545-46.

V said something. He asked if she was okay. She may have said ouch or made a scared sound. He did not remove her pants, did not put his finger in her vagina. He went to his room and went to sleep. SSR3 530-31.

He had only about two hours of sleep in the 36 hours before he spoke to the detective. When he told his girlfriend that he touched V, he did not mean in a sexual manner. SSR3 543, 545.

The defendant's girlfriend testified for the defense that the night the hurricane was approaching she went to sleep in the bed of V's mother, and all three children were in bed with them. She woke up around 3 or 3:30, and the children were still in bed with them. After smoking a cigarette, she went to sleep in the bed where the defendant was. SSR4 605, 607.

V's mother testified in rebuttal that the children did not sleep with her and the defendant's girlfriend on the night the hurricane was approaching. SSR4 628.

B. The direct appeal.

On direct appeal, the defendant argued that his recorded statement to the girlfriend should have been suppressed on two

grounds. First, as counsel argued in the trial court, he argued the statement was a product of the initial police coercion. Second, he argued that it had been obtained by the detective by creating a false sense that the discussion was private.

The Fourth District rejected these arguments. As to the first issue, it held the statement was not the product of the initial police interrogation. It held the second issue had not been not preserved for appeal by trial counsel:

The defendant also argues on appeal that the police deliberately induced in him a reasonable expectation of privacy in his conversation with the girlfriend, relying on *State v. Calhoun*, 479 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). Because this particular argument was not made at trial, we find that this issue is not properly preserved for appellate review.

Lundberg v. State, 918 So. 2d 444, 445 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) (Lundberg I).

C. The post-conviction motion.

The defendant filed a rule 3.850 motion alleging 23 grounds. R1 74-137. After the state responded, the court entered an order summarily denying many of the claims and granting an evidentiary hearing as to others. R4 662-96.

The claims for which the court denied a hearing included claim 14. R4 667-70. This claim alleged counsel was ineffective for failing to move to exclude the recorded discussion with the girlfriend on the ground that the detective fostered a belief that the discussion was private. R1 101-105.

The court granted an evidentiary hearing for grounds 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 12 and 23, which involved failure to object to evidence bolstering V's credibility. R4 662-96.

D. The evidentiary hearing.

The defendant testified on his own behalf. On direct he addressed the claims for which the hearing had been granted - allegations about the bolstering of V's credibility. R7 6-32.

The state began cross by asking him about the statement to the girlfriend. He replied that those statements should have been suppressed. R7 32-34. (As already noted, the trial court denied an evidentiary hearing as to claim 14, which addressed this issue. R1 101-105; R4 677-80.)

The court then asked the defendant about the Fourth District's decision on direct appeal about the statement. He said the state had successfully argued on appeal that the privacy issue had not been raised in the trial court. R7 34-35.

Defense counsel sought to ask the defendant about this matter on redirect, but the state objected that the court had denied a hearing on it. The court said it would allow a limited inquiry since the state had raised the issue on cross. R7 43-46.

The defendant testified that the detective brought the girlfriend to the interview room and "before leaving the room, she says, I'm going to give you-all - I'm going to give you-all privacy, okay." The detective turned the tape recorder off and

removed the audio tape before leaving them. R7 46-47.

The defendant said he discussed this issue with his attorney, Jack Frizzell, who said the statement could not be suppressed on the ground of an expectation of privacy:

Q: Did you ever discuss that issue with Mr. Frizzell?

A: I did. We discussed it and he told me that I - he said that I didn't have an expectation of privacy in the interview room. And I explained to him that it was the detective herself that, she offered privacy to both me and my girlfriend. And then she left. And I really wasn't aware that there was a videotape of the conversation between my girlfriend and I until it was brought to my attention. This was months after my arrest. And I was kinda surprised because I remember the detective saying that it was gonna be a private conversation.

R7 48.

The court interrupted and engaged in a discussion of the issue with both parties that included an extended reading from the transcript of the videotape of the defendant's statements in to the interview room to the detective. R7 48-64.

The transcript showed the detective turning off the in-room tape recorder before going to get the girlfriend:

Q Okay. All right. I'm going to end the tape. Okay? Is there anything else? Anything at all?

A No. Uh uh.

A Okay. The time is eight twenty p.m. What do you want me to say to her when I go down there?

R2 384.

It further showed that, when the girlfriend was brought to

the room, the detective said she was going to give them privacy:

(Interviewer left the room. Female entered the room.)

DETECTIVE DENNIS: You can just have a chair. I'm going to give you all some privacy. Okay?

R3 386 (e.s.).

The trial attorney testified for the state.

Because of the statement to the girlfriend, the attorney had a strategy to discredit V's credibility by showing that she made inconsistent statements to family members and law enforcement. He said, "we had to do that in the context of statements he himself had made to his girlfriend, so we had - you know, that's what we were working with." R7 67-68.

The strategy was to show V was not credible and was manipulated by her aunt, who did not like the defendant. V's lack of credibility was to be shown by the lengths family members went to in questioning her truthfulness. R7 69-71.

The attorney said he could not keep out the taped statements to the girlfriend because "any time you're in an interrogation room, any time you're in a police cruiser, there's no expectation of privacy." R7 72-73.

On cross, he again said the statement could not be kept out and "my experience and my familiarity with the case law is that when you're in an interrogation room, you do not have any more than if you're in a police cruiser an expectation of priva-

cy. I think it's well settled in the case law that you do not have an expectation of privacy." He wanted to exclude all the defendant's statements. R7 87-88.

As the defense continued asking about the statement, the state objected that an evidentiary hearing was denied on the issue. The defense pointed out that the state had raised the issue on direct, and the judge said he would allow "a limited cross examination just in case I'm wrong as to Ground 14." R7 89-93.

As the defense tried to continue questioning the attorney on this, the court broke in to discuss the issue further. The court said the privacy claim (claim 14) was meritless, and sustained the state's objection to testimony about it. R7 94-97.

The court thereafter denied the rule 3.850 motion. FSR 1.

E. The post-conviction appeal.

The Fourth District affirmed. It wrote as to the summary denial of the claim about the statement to the girlfriend:

In the present case the trial court summarily denied this claim of ineffective assistance, because it concluded that no reasonable expectation of privacy had been violated. Defendant was well aware of his previous conversation in the interview room having been recorded. Therefore, he had no reasonable expectation of privacy. The trial court concluded that the surreptitious taping of the conversation in this case was not employed to circumvent the exercise of the defendant's right to remain silent, as he had already relinquished that right when interviewed with the detective.

Lundberg v. State, 37 Fla. L. Weekly D2684, D2685 (Fla. 4th DCA

Nov. 21, 2012) (Lundberg II).

After discussing various appellate cases, the court affirmed the denial of this claim:

While we acknowledge that this is a close case factually, and each case turns on its specific facts, for that very reason we cannot conclude that counsel made a serious error such that he was not functioning as counsel within the Sixth Amendment. As he stated at the evidentiary hearing, "I think it's well founded in the case law that you don't have a reasonable expectation of privacy under those conditions You're in an interrogation room, you're in handcuffs " Counsel did try to get the statements suppressed under Wong Sun, but both the trial court and this court rejected that approach. And while this issue was at least arguable, meaning that he could have filed a motion to suppress in good faith and made an argument based upon Calhoun, that does not mean that he was ineffective under the Strickland standard for failing to do so. We thus affirm the trial court's denial of postconviction relief on this ground.

Id. D2686 (ellipses in original). It also affirmed the denial of the defendant's other claims. Id. D2686-87.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The defendant was deprived of effective assistance of counsel under the Due Process and Counsel Clauses of the state and federal constitutions.

I. The Fourth District erred in denying Claim 14, which concerned the secret recording of the conversation with the girlfriend after the officer made a show of turning off the recorder and said, "I'm going to give you all privacy." The police may not obtain a recording by fostering an expectation that a

discussion is private. Further, it erred by affirming where an evidentiary hearing was denied on the claim. Such record as was developed shows counsel failed to challenge the recording out of ignorance of the law, and the statement was prejudicial. The Fourth District used an incorrect standard for ineffectiveness claims.

II. The court erred in affirming the denial of claims about evidence bolstering V's credibility. Counsel based his strategy on his ignorant belief that he could not exclude the secretly recorded statement to the girlfriend. Based on this, he decided to challenge V's credibility by showing the family initially doubted her. But this strategy did not require allowing the state's use of a massive tide of bolstering evidence, including an expert's hearsay opinion that V was telling the truth. So far as counsel had a strategy, it was not reasonable. Even if it had been reasonable, it was carried out in a way that led to the state's use of prejudicial incompetent evidence.

III. The court erred in affirming the summary denial of claims about the date of the alleged lewd assault charge, which was based on a statute that went into effect after Hurricane Floyd. The evidence at trial indicated this crime occurred when Hurricane Floyd was approaching.

IV. The court erred in affirming the summary denial of other er ineffectiveness claims. The record does not conclusively re-

fute the claims.

V. The court erred in affirming the summary denial of claim 2, which alleged counsel incompetently obtained an instruction on attempted sexual battery, which resulted in his client's conviction for a crime not supported by the evidence.

ARGUMENT

The state and federal constitutions quarantee the right to effective assistance of counsel. Amend. VI, XIV, U.S. Const.; Art I, § 16, Fla. Const. Ineffectiveness claims involve two questions: (1) whether "counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness," and (2) whether there is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Porter v. McCollum, 558 U.S. 30, 38-39 (2009) (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). As to the second question, it is not necessary that the deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome, but only that there is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Porter, 558 U.S. at 44. Under these standards, the Fourth District erred in affirming the denial of the defendant's 3.850 motion. Its decision is contrary to or involved an unreasonable application of clearly established federal and state law and was based on an unreasonable determination of facts in light of the evidence presented in the state court proceeding.

- I. THE FOURTH DISTRICT MISAPPLIED THE LAW IN DENYING CLAIM 14, WHICH CONCERNED THE SECRETLY RECORDED CONVERSATION WITH THE GIRLFRIEND.
- A. Contrary to this Court's rulings, the court concluded that counsel was not ineffective even though the detective said she was providing privacy.

This Court has ruled that conversations involving prisoners are "not entitled to the same degree of privacy afforded some other communications," but that they may not be intercepted if the police deliberately foster an expectation of privacy:

On a related point, Allen argues that it was error to admit evidence obtained from electronic eavesdropping of statements he and Roberson made in their prison cells. We disagree. Voluntary jailhouse conversations between inmates are not entitled to the same degree of privacy afforded some other communications. Lanza v. New York, 370 U.S. 139, 82 S.Ct. 1218, 8 L.Ed.2d 384 (1962). Thus, as a general rule, the courts have permitted the use of such evidence where it was electronically recorded, at least in the absence of any factor diminishing the trustworthiness of the conversation such as coercion or trick. E.g., Williams v. Nelson, 457 F.2d 376 (9th Cir.1972).

There thus was no error here. We caution, however, that our conclusion in this regard rests on the fact that there was no improper police involvement in inducing the conversation nor any intrusion into a privileged or otherwise confidential or private communication. A different result might obtain otherwise. For example, police impropriety would exist if police deliberately fostered an expectation of privacy in the inmates' conversation, as happened in State v. Calhoun, 479 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), especially where the obvious purpose was to circumvent a defendant's assertion of the right to remain silent. Id. The present case does not cross the line of what is permissible.

Allen v. State, 636 So. 2d 494, 496-97 (Fla. 1994) (e.s.). See also Larzelere v. State, 676 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1996) and Davis v.

State, 121 So. 3d 462, 485 (Fla. 2013). By exploiting this expectation of privacy and recording a conversation, the police violate of the constitution and section 934.03, Florida Statutes. State v. Calhoun, 479 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

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