IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT LUNDBERG,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC13-66

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE
THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,
FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PAMELA JO BONDI
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENCE
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar No. 656879

JEANINE GERMANOWICZ
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar No. 0019607

Office of the Attorney General
1515 N. Flagler Drive, Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Primary E-Mail:
CrimAppWPB@myfloridalegal.com
(561)837-5000
(561)837-5108

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Lundberg, the Petitioner in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

"IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief on Jurisdiction. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee accepts Petitioner's statements of the case and facts for purposes of this appeal, insofar as they are not argumentative, and subject to any minor additions, corrections, and/or clarifications here and in the argument that follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Petitioner's trial counsel did not provide ineffective assistance in not moving to suppress Petitioner's taped conversation with his girlfriend/ex-wife, as argued in Issue 14. At the time of this conversation, Petitioner had already waived his right to remain silent and made incriminating statements on

tape to the police officer who was questioning him. The officer had already handcuffed Petitioner and told Petitioner that he was being arrested and charged with two felonies and told Petitioner that he would not be let out of the interview room to speak to his girlfriend and told Petitioner that he would not be released from handcuffs while speaking with her. Petitioner did not have an expectation of privacy in the small interview room nor did the police deliberately foster such an expectation of privacy. Therefore, counsel was not ineffective. Consequently, neither the trial court nor the Fourth District erred in denying relief on this claim.

II. The fact that the child told various people about Petitioner's misconduct was admissible under the Child Hearsay Rule. And, counsel made it clear that his decision not to object to testimony that could be construed as bolstering the victim's testimony was part of his trial strategy to show that no one in the victim's family believed her and the only reason that charges were brought was because a counselor was required by law to report the allegations. Counsel's strategy was at least partially successful; the jury found Petitioner guilty only of attempted capital sexual battery. Counsel was not ineffective in connection with Issues 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, and 12. Therefore, neither the trial court nor the Fourth District erred in denying relief on these claims.

III. There was evidence to show that the charged acts took place after the effective date of the amended statute. The trial court did not err in summarily denying issues 18 and 22 and the Fourth District did not err in affirming.

IV. The trial court did not err in summarily denying issues 8, 11, 15, 16, 19, and 21 and the Fourth District did not err in affirming the trial court. The claims were insufficient as a matter of law and fact and/or they were refuted by the record.

V. The trial court did not err in summarily denying the claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the instruction on attempted capital sexual battery as argued in Issue 2, and the Fourth District did not err in affirming. There was evidence that could support both a completed battery and an attempt.

None of the issues merit any relief. This Court must uphold the Fourth District's opinion affirming the denial of Petitioner's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion below.

ARGUMENT

AN OVERVIEW OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW GENERALLY APPLICABLE TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIMS

Before examining each of the individual grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel raised in Petitioner's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion, on appeal in the Fourth District, and in this Court, it is necessary to have a clear

understanding as to the standard of review against which these claims are measured. Such operative standards are set forth in the governing case of Strickland v. Washington, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). Strickland establishes a two-prong analysis, *both* facets of which must be affirmatively established, before a defendant can prevail upon a claim of ineffective representation.

The first component requires a showing that the defense counsel's performance was deficient and fell below an objective standard of reasonableness considering all the circumstances. In applying this method of review, the Court cautions that judicial scrutiny must be "highly deferential," avoiding the "distorting effects of hindsight" and, as such, must indulge in a strong presumption that the defense counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Moreover, strategic decisions made by the defense counsel, after a thorough review of the law and facts, are virtually unassailable and immune from such retrospective analysis. Id. at 2064-2066.

"[S]trategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel if alternative courses have been considered and rejected and counsel's decision was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct." The defendant carries the burden to "overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy." Moreover, this Court has held, "That there may have been more that trial counsel could have done or that new counsel in reviewing the record with hindsight would handle the case differently, does not mean that trial counsel's performance during the guilt phase was deficient."

Everett v. State, 54 So. 3d 464, 478 (Fla. 2010) (citations omitted) (quoting Anderson v. State, 18 So. 3d 501, 509 (Fla. 2009); Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 2003)).

The second factor considers the actual prejudice attributable to the defense counsel and how such conduct directly impacted upon the overall result obtained. It is not sufficient to show that the defense counsel's errors in judgment had "some conceivable effect on the outcome" but rather it must be proven with reasonable probability that "but for the defense counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Hutchinson v. State, 17 So. 3d 696, 700 (Fla. 2009) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694). Thus, the integrity of the entire proceeding must have been compromised by the defense counsel's deficiencies.

It is not necessary, and is often unwarranted, to scrutinize claims of ineffectiveness under both prongs of the Strickland analysis. The Court has made it clear that the defendant's failure to make a sufficient showing as to one component will vitiate the claim. Strickland, 104 S.Ct. at 2069. The purpose of such review is not intended "to grade counsel's performance" and

the Court emphasizes that where the record demonstrates a lack of prejudice the analysis may cease.

"Because both prongs of the Strickland test present mixed questions of law and fact, this Court employs a mixed standard of review, deferring to the circuit court's factual findings that are supported by competent, substantial evidence, but reviewing the circuit court's legal conclusions de novo." Johnston v. State, 63 So. 3d 730, 737 (Fla. 2011). See also, Kelley v. State, 569 So. 2d 754, 761 (Fla. 1990). Given this standard of review, the State submits that the record supports the trial court's findings of fact and, further, submits that the trial court did not err in denying any of the claims raised in Petitioner's Rule 3.850 motion which are re-argued in his Initial Brief to this Court. Therefore, the appellate court did not err in affirming the trial court's denial of post conviction relief.

ISSUE I: THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING ISSUE 14 AND THE APPELLATE COURT DID NOT ERR IN AFFIRMING; COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT MOVING TO SUPPRESS PETITIONER'S VIDEOTAPED CONVERSATION WITH HIS GIRLFRIEND; THE POLICE DID NOT CREATE A FALSE BELIEF THAT PETITIONER'S CONVERSATION WAS PRIVATE. (RESTATED)

Contrary to Petitioner's assertions, Petitioner's trial counsel did not provide ineffective assistance in not moving to suppress Petitioner's taped conversation with his girlfriend/ex-wife, as argued in Issue 14 of Petitioner's Florida Rule of

Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion below.¹ There was no reason to suppress the tape on grounds that the police deliberately fostered an expectation of privacy in the petitioner. That is, as the trial court and the Fourth District found, the police did not deliberately foster an expectation of privacy in the petitioner.

The following facts must be noted. Prior to Petitioner's conversation with his girlfriend, Petitioner had already made incriminating statements. Detective Dennis had told Petitioner that her interview with him was over for all practical purposes, that she was arresting him for two felonies, and that he would be going to the jail to be processed. (R2 381-384) It was at this point that Petitioner himself asked to see his girlfriend before he went to the jail. (R2 381) Dennis told Petitioner he was being handcuffed. (R2 381) Dennis told Petitioner that he could not leave the interview room to speak to his girlfriend and she told him that she could not remove his handcuffs while

¹Petitioner's interview with Detective Dennis is contained at R2 292-384 and R3 385-94 and his conversation with girlfriend (or ex-wife) Xiomara Figueroa is contained at R3 386-90. Any record references in this point on appeal are to this portion of the record and particularly to R2 381-R3 390.

he was speaking to his girlfriend. (R2 381) In addition, although Detective Dennis had previously urged Petitioner to talk to Dennis and confess, Dennis did not urge Petitioner to talk to Figueroa and confess. Dennis had no need to since Petitioner had already confessed to Dennis. As the trial court found, Petitioner's girlfriend was not placed in the interview room "to induce a confession, but was there solely at the Defendant's request." (R4 679)

The fact of the matter is that Dennis simply, **at Petitioner's own request**, permitted Petitioner an opportunity to tell his girlfriend that he was being arrested. Certainly, Petitioner did not present any testimony or affidavit from Detective Dennis or any other police officer suggesting that Dennis' actions were deliberately intended to foster a false expectation of privacy in the petitioner in order to elicit incriminating statements. In fact, the record shows that Dennis agreed that there was a hidden video camera in the interview room but she explained that it was kept running and monitored only for purposes of officer safety. (R3 507)

Although Detective Dennis offered Petitioner and his girlfriend "privacy" by leaving the two together alone in the interview room, this did not render the conversation inadmissible. "A citizen's right to privacy ... is determined by a two prong test: 1) whether the citizen had a subjective

expectation of privacy; and 2) whether that expectation was one that society recognizes as reasonable.” Williams v. State, 982 So. 2d 1190, 1194 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) (citing State v. Smith, 641 So. 2d 849, 851 (Fla. 1994)). However, a defendant does not normally have a reasonable expectation of privacy in a police interview room. See Bedoya v. State, 779 So. 2d 574 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001); State v. Calhoun, 479 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); Boyer v. State, 736 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); Johnson v. State, 730 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). Similarly, voluntary jailhouse conversations are not entitled to the same degree of privacy afforded some other communications. Lanza v. New York, 370 U.S. 139, 82 S. Ct. 1218, 8 L. Ed. 2d 384 (1962). Thus, the courts have generally permitted the use of such evidence where it was electronically recorded, at least in the absence of any factor diminishing the trustworthiness of the conversation such as coercion or trick. Allen v. State, 636 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 1994) (no expectation of privacy in jail). In Larzelere v. State, 676 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1996), this Court found that the State did not act wrongfully in placing the defendant and her co-conspirator together in a holding cell and recording the ensuing conversation where the police did not foster an illusion of privacy.

Instructively, in Boyer v. State, 736 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), the Fourth District held that a defendant had no

subjective expectations of privacy in jailhouse conversations. Boyer voluntarily agreed to speak to police but he did not confess during this interview. After the interview, he asked to speak to his sister-in-law. The officer permitted the sister-in-law to enter the interview room, saying that he would get out of the room so Boyer could speak with her. The defendant made incriminating statements to her which were recorded. The Fourth District found that the defendant had no subjective or reasonable expectation of privacy because Boyer did not ask for privacy and the police did nothing to foster a sense of privacy in the conversation. Id., at 67.

In the instant case, the Fourth District acknowledged Boyer and stated:

Although the detective used the word "privacy" when leaving the room, we find this hard to distinguish from Boyer where the officer told the defendant that he would get out of the room so the defendant could talk to his sister-in-law. That, too, could foster a notion in a defendant that people would not be listening to his conversation. Yet, in Boyer we held that the statement should not be suppressed. Here, the defendant had already made admissions to the detective and had specifically asked to see his girlfriend. He had not asked for privacy, even though the officer did vacate the room. And all he apparently wanted to do was to tell his girlfriend how sorry he was for the situation and explain what he had told the detective. **The officer's statement that she wanted to give them privacy more likely conveyed to the defendant that he could tell his girlfriend about his arrest out of the public eye—to save embarrassment to them both. This conduct is not the type of deliberate fostering of an expectation of privacy in order to avoid the defendant's assertion of his constitutional rights**

which led the trial court to suppress the recorded conversation in Calhoun and Cox.

Lundberg v. State, 37 Fla. L. Weekly D2684, 2012 WL 5870104, *5 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012) (Lundberg II) (Emphasis added). In the totality of the circumstances, this analysis is correct especially where Petitioner had voluntarily come to the station; where Petitioner had already voluntarily waived his rights; where Petitioner had already made incriminating statements to the police; and where the detective testified that the hidden videotape was used for officer safety purposes, and not to elicit incriminating statements. Under the circumstances, there was no error in concluding that the police did not deliberately foster an expectation of privacy.

Even though the Fourth District, in State v. Calhoun, 479 So. 2d 241 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), found, based on the totality of the circumstances therein, that suppression was warranted where the police **deliberately** fostered an expectation of privacy on the defendant's part in order to garner incriminating statements made by the defendant, that case is distinguishable both in degree and on a number of points. In that case, the defendant was not informed he was a suspect on the instant charges and was informed of his Miranda rights only in connection with another, unrelated, pending charge. The defendant asked to speak to his brother **before making a statement to police**. The defendant's

conversation with his brother was monitored by police. After speaking with his brother, **the defendant expressly invoked his right to remain silent and asked for counsel (the fact used by the Fourth District to distinguish Calhoun from other cases involving surreptitious tape recording)**. The defendant's brother was brought back, admittedly for strategic "investigative purposes," and the police again monitored their conversation. Under the circumstances, this Court found suppression to be warranted.

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